Supreme Court Docket No.

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

# TIMOTHY GIRALDIN, TRUSTEE TO THE WILLIAM A. GIRALDIN TRUST DATED FEBRUARY 11, 2002, AND PATRICK GIRALDIN,

Defendants and Appellants,

vs.

## CHRISTINE GIRALDIN, PATRICIA GRAY, AND MICHAEL GIRALDIN,

Plaintiffs and Respondents,

SUPREME COURT

After a Decision By the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division Three Case No. G041811

NOV - 3 2011

Caldida K. Ohlrich Clerk

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Deputy

FREEMAN, FREEMAN & SMILEY, LLP
Stephen M. Lowe, Esq., SBN 45534
Thomas C. Aikin, Esq., SBN 241411
3415 S. Sepulveda Boulevard, Suite 1200
Los Angeles, California 90034
Phone (310) 255-6100

### I. **QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

- 1. When a trustor appoints a third person as trustee of a revocable trust, can remainder beneficiaries seek relief after the trust becomes irrevocable for misconduct by the trustee during the period of revocability.
- 2. Whether the Court of Appeal failed to determine whether substantial evidence existed to support the Trial Court's findings of capacity and whether certain property was held in a Decedent's Trust.

# II. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT OF WHY REVIEW IS NECESSARY

Statutory grounds for review exist under California Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(b), in that the published opinion of the Fourth Appellate District of the Court of Appeal (the "Opinion") expressly declined to follow existing California case law which was precisely on point with the facts and law of the case. Prior to the Court of Appeal review, both sides assumed that Petitioners had standing to bring their petition pursuant to *Evangelho v. Presoto* (1998) 67 Cal.App.4th 615, but the Court of Appeal decided on its own not to follow the only controlling case and to initiate its attack on the rights of beneficiaries to recover for trustee misconduct. There is now a split of authority in appellate courts and the Supreme Court has not issued

any prior opinions on the subject. Review by the Supreme Court is necessary to ensure uniformity in an important area of trust law.

The Opinion eliminates one of the methods for protecting elders in California from abuse. Californians increasingly make use of revocable trusts to hold their assets, to avoid the necessity of costly and time-consuming conservatorships and probates. While trusts make testamentary dispositions of property like a will, unlike a will, trusts create the possibility that a person other than the trustor may become the trustee while the trust is still revocable and gain immediate control over the trust assets. Revocable trusts are thus both a powerful tool for ensuring that wealth is preserved and passed on, but can also be abused as a tool to empower an individual to wrongfully take control of a vulnerable elder's assets, and use them for his own gain, often without the knowledge of the elder's family and heirs.

While the savings that trusts provide by avoiding court proceedings are beneficial, the opportunity for misconduct by a non-settlor trustee is facilitated. When a person has wrongfully taken control of an incapacitated person's wealth by becoming a trustee, and has taken actions without obtaining the settlor's consent, holding that individual accountable as a fiduciary under the trust instrument and Trust Law (Division 9 of the Probate Code § 15000 *et* seq.) is an efficient, effective and necessary legal remedy for the protection of elders in this state.

Here, certain beneficiaries of a family trust, Christine Giraldin, Patricia Gray, Michael Giraldin and Philip Giraldin (collectively "Petitioners") sought to have its Trustee, Timothy Giraldin ("Tim"), held accountable for breaches of trust during Trustor William Giraldin's ("Bill") lifetime, including a four million dollar investment in a startup company in which Tim had a substantial interest. If Bill had directed Tim to take the actions in question, the beneficiaries would have been prevented from making these claims. However, after a lengthy trial, substantial evidence showed Bill did not have capacity to understand the documents he signed, which were offered by Tim as "written directions" pursuant to the applicable terms of the Trust. The Trial Court found that Tim used the Trust for his own benefit, and without Bill's consent, which resulted in a loss of more than four million dollars, approximately two-thirds of the Trust estate. The Trustee's misconduct effectively destroyed Bill's estate plan to benefit his wife and then all of his children equally. The Opinion reversed all orders of the Trial Court based on its holding that beneficiaries have no standing to hold a trustee accountable for periods during the trustor's lifetime when the trust is revocable.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Philip Giraldin passed away after the Trial Court's order and is no longer a party,

Tim violated numerous codified fiduciary duties by acting in his own interest rather than Bill's. Tim was granted power over Bill's property when he accepted his position as Trustee, but California law has always tempered this power with requirements as to how the trustee must act.

Thus, by using a trust and appointing someone else as trustee, Bill could avoid the cost and embarrassment of a conservatorship, but his intended beneficiaries still were protected from trustee misconduct.

The Opinion eliminates this protection. In the Opinion, the Court of Appeal expressly declined to follow an existing case, *Evangelho v. Presoto* (1998) 67 Cal.App.4th 615, a case from the First District of the Court of Appeal, which was factually and legally analogous to Petitioners' claims. *Evangelho* allowed the remainder beneficiaries, following the death of the trustor, to compel a trust accounting from a third party trustee during the trustor's lifetime, subject to the discretion of the trial court. The Opinion holds there is no standing to compel such an accounting no matter how egregious the circumstances of the Trustee's conduct were. As a result, there is now a conflict in authority in California law as to whether this additional protection for the elderly is still available for the only persons who are likely available to police this misconduct, the remainder beneficiaries.

#### III. BRIEF STATEMENT OF UNDERLYING FACTS

Petitioners are four of the nine natural or adopted children of Bill.

Respondents Tim and Patrick Giraldin ("Patrick") are two of other children.

In his career, Bill founded a Savings & Loan Association, which was ultimately acquired by Washington Mutual and resulted in Bill's acquisition of millions of dollars in Washington Mutual stock. Bill had always managed and controlled his and his family's financial affairs.

Bill executed the William A. Giraldin Trust which was originally executed by Bill as trustor and trustee on February 25, 1997, and amended four times ("the Initial Trust"). The Initial Trust and amendments were all prepared by Bill's long time estate planning attorney, Scott Richmond, Esq. ("Richmond"). Only two months after the fourth amendment was executed, Tim referred Bill to a new estate planning attorney, James Mellor, Esq. ("Mellor"), in October 2001, for whom Tim's wife had previously worked. Tim arranged for and attended meetings between Mellor, Bill and him to create a new trust which named Tim as Trustee.

On February 11, 2002, Bill executed an entirely new trust instrument (the "Trust"), prepared by Mellor, in place of the Initial Trust and amendments. Tim signed the Trust as the sole Trustee. The Trust departs from Bill's earlier estate plan by immediately appointing Tim as the sole Trustee, whereas Bill was the trustee of the Initial Trust (and amendments) followed by four of his children as successor co-trustees. Bill was the sole

beneficiary of the Trust during his lifetime and entitled to net income and principal of the entire Trust in his or the Trustee's discretion. During Bill's lifetime, he retained the right to add or remove property from the Trust; amend or revoke the Trust; appoint or remove a trustee; and direct and approve the Trustee's actions, including investment decisions. However, these rights could only be exercised by a signed writing by Bill delivered to the Trustee. After Bill's death, the remaining corpus was available for use by his surviving spouse, Mary, and then to be divided equally among all his children. Only after Bill's death did Petitioners learn of the existence of the Trust, even though several of his children had been aware of, and named as successor trustees, in the Initial Trust.

Immediately prior to Tim becoming Trustee, the Trust owned approximately \$3.4 million of Washington Mutual common stock which constituted about 50% of the Trust corpus, with the remainder of the corpus in diversified investments such as energy stocks, government securities, and real estate limited partnerships, and approximately \$1 million in real estate, including his residence and a cabin in Fresno County, California.

SafeTzone Technology Corporation ("SafeTzone"), was a start-up company partially owned and formerly controlled by Tim and Patrick.

Immediately after Tim became Trustee in February 2002, he began the process of liquidating nearly all of the Trust's securities holdings and investing over \$4 million in SafeTzone over a period of less than one and a

half years. The Trust's dependable, diversified investments, built up by Bill over many decades, were traded for an investment in a risky start-up venture, SafeTzone, that had only one other financial investor at the time and had lost millions of dollars since its inception. On May 23, 2008, Tim delinquently filed a verified First Account Current (the "Accounting"). In the Accounting it was disclosed that as of December 31, 2007, the SafeTZone investment was essentially worthless.

The Accounting also disclosed numerous disbursements or loans to Tim and to select family members for which he had no explanation or backup. One disbursement was made in violation of a restraining order. None of the loans was memorialized in writing and no terms of the purported loans are disclosed by the Accounting. Tim stated in his testimony that all of these loans were made pursuant to oral instructions from Bill and that they were forgiven according to the terms of the Trust.

Finally, the Accounting shows a total of \$4,050,000 invested in SafeTzone by the 2002 Trust between February 28, 2002 and May 6, 2003. A portion of the money received by SafeTzone from the Trust (\$50,000) on the same day of the Trust's initial investment is characterized as a "loan," rather than an investment. There is no writing, however to substantiate the purported loan, there are no terms of the loan, and the Trust did not receive any SafeTzone stock or other consideration for the \$50,000 given to

SafeTzone. The only possible conclusion is that the Trustee made a \$50,000 oversight.

### IV. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On December 1, 2006 Petitioners (and Philip Giraldin) filed their Petition for 1) Removal of Trustee; 2) Suspension of Powers; 3)

Appointment of Successor Trustee; 4) Compel Trustee to Report and Account; and 5) Attorneys' Fees against Tim (the "Petition"). On January 17, 2007, Tim filed his response to the Petition.

On January 18, 2007 Mary filed a spousal property petition (the "Spousal Property Petition"). On May 2, 2007, Petitioners filed their objection to the Spousal Property Petition.

On January 8, 2008, Petitioners filed an amended Petition (the "Amended Petition"). On February 4, 2008, the Court ordered that Tim file an accounting of the Trust on or before April 11, 2008. The Accounting was filed and served late, on May 23, 2008. On August 4, 2008, Petitioners filed their Objections to the Accounting.

Trial on the petitions and objections commenced on October 29, 2008 before Hon. David R. Chafee (hereinafter the "Trial Court"). A final statement of decision in favor of Petitioners was filed on December 19, 2008, as well as Orders on the Amended Petition and Settlement of the Accounting.

Tim filed a notice of appeal jointly with Mary and Patrick on March 10, 2009. The Notice of Appeal specifically stated that the order being appealed included the following:

- the December 19, 2008 Order Settling First Account Current and Report of Trustee and for Its Settlement;
- the December 19, 2008 Order on Amended Petition for 1) Removal of Trustee; 2) Suspension of Powers; 3) Appointment of Successor Trustee; 4) To Compel Trustee to Report and Account; 5) For Attorneys' Fees; and 6) For Recovery of Trust Property; and
- iii) the December 19, 2008 Order on the Spousal Property Petition. [Id.].

Mary and Tim filed their respective Opening Briefs on February 3, 2010. Petitioners filed their combined Respondents' Brief on July 19, 2010. Tim and Mary filed their respective Reply Briefs on October 8, 2010. On March 7, 2011, the Court of Appeal issued an order requesting further briefing from the parties relating to the issue of standing.

Petitioners filed their Supplemental Brief in Response to the March 7, 2011

Order on April 6, 2011. Tim filed a Supplemental Brief on April 26, 2011, and Petitioners filed a Reply Supplemental Brief on May 6, 2011. On June 2, 2011, Petitioners filed a Letter Brief in Response to the Court's March 7, 2011 Order. The parties presented oral argument on September 21, 2011, and on September 26, 2011 the Court of Appeal issued its Opinion, which reversed the orders of the Trial Court.

Petitioners did not file a petition for re-hearing with the appellate court because no grounds for such a petition existed under Rule 8.500.

- V. REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO PREVENT A SPLIT IN

  AUTHORITY AMONG CALIFORNIA COURTS AS TO

  REMEDIES AVAILABLE TO BENEFICIARIES FOR

  BREACH OF TRUST
  - A. The Court of Appeal Expressly Declined to Follow

    Evangelho v. Presoto and the Facts of the Instant Case

    were Wholly Consistent with that Case

In its Opinion, the Court of Appeal acknowledged that the Trial Court had ruled in accordance with the case of *Evangelho v. Presoto* (1998) 67 Cal.App.4th 615 ("*Evangelho*"), but expressly held it found *Evangelho* "unpersuasive, and decline[d] to follow it." (Opinion, pg. 20). *Evangelho* was factually and legally analogous to Petitioners' claims, and should have been followed by the Court of Appeal. In addition, Petitioners' claims are even stronger than those in *Evangelho* because as an added element, the Trial Court considered and found that Bill lacked capacity.

In *Evangelho*, a woman, Joan Evangelho, created a revocable trust. *Evangelho*, 67 Cal.App.4th at 618. The case concerned the actions of defendant Presoto as trustee of the trust. Among the assets of the trust was a PaineWebber brokerage account which at the time the trust was created had a value of approximately \$450,000, but at the time of decedent's death the account was worth approximately \$132,000. *Id.* at 619. Following decedent's death, the petitioners then filed a petition under Probate Code \$17200(b)(7) to "compel trustee to account to beneficiaries and to compel

redress of breach of trust." *Id.* This petition sought an accounting from the date the trust was created. *Id.* Presoto relied on Probate Code § 15800 to assert that the beneficiaries could not compel an accounting for any time when the trust was revocable. *Id.* at 623.

The *Evangelho* court held that the clear import of Probate Code §§ 15800 and 16069<sup>2</sup> was to postpone the enjoyment of rights under the trust law by contingent beneficiaries while the settlor could revoke or modify the trust. *Id.* at 623-24. However, "when the person holding the power to revoke dies, the rights of contingent beneficiaries are no longer contingent. Those rights, which were postponed while the holder of the power to revoke was alive, mature into present and enforceable rights under division 9, the trust law." *Id.* at 624.

Evangelho also considered the overall purpose of the legislature in enacting these sections and found "the actual words of the code sections and the Law Revision Commission reveal the will of the Legislature to be that only decedent as settlor could compel an accounting while she was alive and competent. But once decedent died, the right to compel the accounting set out in the code sections passed to the respondents as beneficiaries." Id. As to the specific remedies available to the beneficiaries, Evangelho holds that "regarding the scope of the accounting, the code sections grant broad equitable powers for the protection of beneficiaries. The matter of determining the appropriate equitable relief to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> When *Evangelho* was decided, the present text of Probate Code §16069(a) - "in the case of a beneficiary of a revocable trust, as provided in Section 15800, for the period when the trust may be revoked" was included in Probate Code §16064(b). See *Evangelho*, 617 Cal.App.4th at 623, fn. 6. This language was moved to section 16069 *unchanged* in the 2010 revisions to the Probate Code.

be granted to a beneficiary is generally left to the good judgment of the trial court." (citing *Rivero v. Thomas* (1948) 86 Cal.App.2d 225, 238.) *Id.*Therefore, "[the trustee's] conduct can be attacked for fraud or bad faith and an accounting compelled for improper acts which had been hidden from the ultimate beneficiaries." *Evangelho*, 67 Cal.App at 624.

Under *Evangelho*, the rights of the beneficiaries to enforce an accounting were "postponed," which is distinct from saying they do not exist. "When the person holding the power to revoke dies, the rights of contingent beneficiaries are no longer contingent. Those rights, which were postponed while the holder of the power to revoke was alive, mature into present and enforceable rights under division 9, the trust law." *Evangelho*, 67 Cal.App at 624. "Once the decedent died, the right to compel the accounting set out in the code sections passed to the respondents as beneficiaries." *Id*.

Petitioners, like the beneficiaries in *Evangelho*, properly brought a petition compelling Timothy to account for the Trust from the date of its creation (February 11, 2002), through the date of Bill's death, May 5, 2005, which was granted. This order is the same as the order in *Evangelho* as it requires an accounting for the period of revocability after the trust become irrevocable. The Opinion holds that there is no such right, no standing and no recourse for the misconduct revealed by the court-ordered accounting.

# B. The Holdings of Evangelho Have Not Been Controverted by Subsequent Decision as Argued by the Court Of Appeal

The Court of Appeal endeavored to support its disregard of Evangelho in light of several subsequent California appellate court decisions on points of law relating to revocable trusts and the Probate Code. However, none of these decisions expressly or impliedly disapprove of the result in Evangelho. One case cited in the Court of Appeal's Opinion, Johnson v. Kotcyk (1999) 76 Cal. App. 4th 83, does not affect the Evangelho decision, and in fact is logically consistent. In *Johnson*, a beneficiary of a trust sought accountings while the settlor of the revocable trust was still alive, but subject to a conservatorship. The beneficiary argued that Probate Code section 15800 did not apply as the trustor of the trust could no longer revoke it as she had become incompetent. The Johnson court disagreed and relied upon Probate Code § 2580 to determine that the conservator, in conjunction with the probate court, was the person holding the power to modify or revoke the trust instrument, and was competent to do so. As the rights still were held by a living trustor pursuant to section 15800, the remainder beneficiary had no ability to compel an accounting. Thus, the holdings of Johnson and Evangelho are entirely consistent. During the lifetime of the settlor, the remaining beneficiaries have no standing to seek an accounting (Johnson), but they do have standing to do so at the discretion of the trial court after the settlor dies (Evangelho). Petitioners do not assert that they could have compelled an accounting from the Trustee while Bill was alive, even if he was incompetent. When Bill died, however, the Trust became irrevocable and all the postponed rights under the Trust became actionable by the now vested beneficiaries.

Similarly to *Johnson*, the Court of Appeal stated that one of its reasons for not following *Evangelho* was a subsequent Supreme Court opinion, *Steinhart v. County of Los Angeles* (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1298, based upon language in that case which affirmed that a "settlor with revocation power 'retains the power and control of the trustee and can with a stroke of

the pen divest the beneficiaries of their interest." *Steinhart* at 1320. The Court of Appeal specifically referenced its belief that *Evangelho* "did not have the benefit of the Supreme Court's opinion in *Steinhart* [citation omitted] with its clear explanation of the nature of a revocable trust, to aid in its interpretation of Probate Code Section 15800." *Steinhart*, however, concerned an entirely different subject matter, namely an appeal of an assessment of property tax and specifically when a change in ownership of real property occurred for purposes of Proposition 13. *Steinhart*, 47 Cal.4th at 1303.

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