SUPREME COURT FILED

## SUPREME COURT DOCKET NO. S197694

NOV 28 2011

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk CALIFORNIA Deputy CRC 8 25(b)

TIMOTHY GIRALDIN, TRUSTEE TO THE WILLIAM A. GIRALDIN TRUST DATED
FEBRUARY 11, 2002, AND PATRICK GIRALDIN,

Defendants and Appellants,

VS.

CHRISTINE GIRALDIN, PATRICIA GRAY, AND MICHAEL GIRLADIN,

Plaintiffs and Respondents.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION THREE CASE NO. G041811

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

BIDNA & KEYS, APLC
Richard D. Keys (SBN: 105901)
Howard M. Bidna (SBN: 81604)
5120 Campus Drive
Newport Beach, CA 92660
Rkeys@bidnakeys.com
Hbidna@bidnakeys.com

#### Introduction

The petition for review should be denied. First and foremost, the petition does not demonstrate the existence of the factors to be considered under CRC Rule 8.500(b). Secondly, but of equal importance, Petitioners have no vested rights in the William Giraldin Trust. They are contingent remaindermen who not ever have a right to receive anything under the terms of the trust.

#### Facts

The facts are accurately stated in the Court of Appeal's decision. Bill Giraldin was the settlor of the William Giraldin Trust. Tim Giraldin was the trustee of the trust. The trust was fully revocable until Bill's death. Petitioners are contingent remaindermen named in the trust instrument, who have no rights to take anything under the trust until two events occur: 1. Bill dies (which happened) and 2. Bill's wife Mary, the principal beneficiary of the trust, dies (which has not happened). The actions which are the subject of Petitioner's request for review by this Court all arise from Tim's acts as trustee during Bill's lifetime, when the trust was fully revocable, and relate either to Bill's investment in SafeTzone or his gifts/loans to certain of his children.

Although Petitioners argue (at page 27 of their brief) that the Court of Appeal ignored certain facts as found by the trial court, Petitioners admit that they did not seek to bring any alleged omission or misstatement of an issue or fact to the attention of the Court of Appeal in petition for rehearing. Thus, for purposes of this petition, this Court should accept the facts as recited by the Court of Appeal. CRC Rule 8.500(c)(2). The petition argues that the trial

court made various findings regarding various wrongs Tim committed. However, Petitioners ignore the fact that the Court of Appeal found that nearly all of those findings were the result of erroneous evidentiary rulings by the trial court. *See*, Opinion at page 4, fn 3 and page 14, fn 13. Accordingly they are entitled to no weight (presumably the Court of Appeal views the erroneous evidentiary as alternative grounds for reversal of the judgment).

# Review Is Not Necessary to Secure Uniformity of Decision or to Settle an Important Question of Law.

The specific holding by the Court of Appeal is that during Bill's lifetime, Tim, as trustee, owed fiduciary duties solely to Bill, and owed no duties to Petitioners as "beneficiaries" of the Giraldin Trust. Because the only claims that Petitioners asserted at trial were based on the theory that Tim did owe duties directly to Petitioners, Petitioners' asserted claims failed as a matter of law. The decision carefully analyzes the claims Petitioners pleaded and the theories they asserted at trial. Based on that analysis the Court of Appeal noted that Petitioners' asserted only claims based on duties Tim allegedly owed to them and did not assert, or seek to assert, any claims on Bill's behalf or any claim based on any duty owed by Tim to Bill. As such, this case is factually distinguishable from Evangelho v. Presoto (1998) 67 Cal.App.4th 615, in which the claims that were asserted allegedly belonged to the prior trustor, to whom the trustee did owe a duty. Moreover, the actual holding in Evangelho from which the appeal arose dealt with an order requiring the trustee to account for her dealings with respect to a joint bank account she held with the deceased, which was an asset held outside the trust. Evangelho specifically noted that the order directing an accounting with respect to such bank account was the only part of the trial court's order that was appealable, and that the order requiring the trustee to account for the trust (but not awarding any damages or surcharge based on such accounting) was not appealable. 67 Cal.App.4th at 622 (citing Probate Code § 1304, which provides that an order compelling an accounting is not appealable). This case and the holding of *Evangelho* are not inconsistent because the facts are materially different. As such, the Court of Appeal properly found that Evangelho did not apply.

The fact that the Court of Appeal declined to follow certain statements by the Court in *Evangelho* does not mean that there is not uniformity of decision on the issue of whether the trustee of a revocable trust owes a "duty" to a residual beneficiary or that an important question of law is unsettled. As the well reasoned opinion of the Court of Appeal in this case points out, the duties of the trustee of a revocable trust, as well as the rights of a beneficiary of a revocable trust, *are defined by statute*, specifically Probate Code §§ 15800 and 16069. Indeed, in California, the "right" of inheritance is strictly statutory. *In re Darling's Estate* (1916) 173 Cal. 221, 223.

As the Court of Appeal points out, *Evangelho* simply misread Section 16069 (formerly Section 16064). Section 15800 clearly and unequivocally provides that a trustee's duties are owed solely to "the person holding the power to revoke the trust." Section 16069 provides that a trustee owes no duty to account to a "beneficiary" of a revocable trust "**for** the period when the trust may be revoked." Thus, the Legislature has declared that a trustee of a revocable trust owes no duty to a "beneficiary" (such as Petitioners) while the trustor is alive and in a position to revoke the trust, and further that such a

trustee never has a duty to account to a "beneficiary" (such as Petitioners) for any period when the trust could be revoked (i.e. prior to the death or incapacity of the trustor). Given the clear pronouncement of the statutes in question, the law is not unsettled.

As the Court of Appeal further pointed out, Evangelho was decided before Johnson v. Kotyck (1999) 76 Cal.App.4th 83 and Steinhart v. County of Los Angeles (2010). Johnson holds that the right to an accounting of a revocable trust belongs exclusively to the person holding the power to revoke, and that a contingent beneficiary, such as Petitioners, have no right to an accounting, even following the appointment of a conservator for the settlor. Johnson was decided twelve years ago (and one year after Evangelho) and is entirely consistent with the Court of Appeal's decision in this case. Steinhart holds that property held in a revocable trust is deemed property of the settlor, and any interest the "beneficiaries" of such trust may have is "merely potential." Such holding effectively rejects the basic theory upon which Petitioners base their claims which, is that by virtue of their status as beneficiaries of a revocable trust they are "entitled" to have some say regarding the assets held in the trust.

Moreover, it does not appear that Evangelho has ever been cited in any reported (or unreported) opinion for the proposition that the beneficiaries of a revocable trust have standing to sue a former trustee for actions taken while the trust was revocable. Indeed, with the exception of *Johnson*, the present case appears to be the only appellate level case decided since 1998 that has even addressed the issue of whether a beneficiary of a revocable trust has standing to complain of anything a former trustee did. Accordingly, it is

difficult to perceive that the issue presented is properly considered an important question of unsettled law. In fact, it does not seem to rise to the level of a question of law. It is more a question of fact on which the above-noted statutes operate.

# Under the Peculiar Facts of this Case, the Petitioners Are Not Fully Vested Beneficiaries - They Are to this Day Contingent Remaindermen, Who May Never Become Vested.

Under the terms of the trust instrument none of the Petitioners are "vested beneficiaries," and it is possible that none of them ever will become vested or entitled to receive anything under the trust. The trust instrument (trial exhibit 67 included in Appellant's Supplemental Appendix of Exhibits, at page 95) provides in Article 4 (page 101) that upon Bill's death, the corpus of the trust is to be divided into two trusts - a "QTIP trust" (a qualified terminal interest trust designed to postpone payment of estate taxes) and a "Bypass Trust." Bill's wife, Mary, is the primary beneficiary of both subtrusts. Articles 7 and 9 provide for the administration of such subtrusts. Pursuant to Article 7.3, the entire corpus of the QTIP Trust is available to Mary to pay for "health, education, maintenance and support." Article 9.1 provides that the entire corpus of the Bypass Trust is likewise available to Mary to allow her to enjoy her "accustomed standard of living." No beneficiary other than Mary has any rights whatsoever to income or principal from either the QTIP Trust or the Bypass Trust while Mary is alive. Thus, it is entirely possible that the corpus of the trust will be exhausted by Mary, in which case Petitioners would stand to receive nothing. Given this potential outcome for Petitioners, it is difficult to see why or on what basis they would have a right to sue a former trustee for harm to their non-existent interests.<sup>1</sup>

Article 4 further provides that upon Mary's death, the remaining corpus of both subtrusts is to be distributed in equal shares to "each of [Bill's] children" who survive Mary. In the event a child does not survive Mary, then either the devise to that child lapses or, if the child had surviving issue (i.e. grandchildren), passes to another trust created for such issue. In the event none of Bill's children survive Mary, and none of Bill's children have issue who survive's Mary, the entire corpus of the trust goes first to any of Bill's living "heirs at law," and if none, then to charity.

Mary is still alive. The result of the provisions of Article 4 is that as of the time of trial *none* of the Petitioners were vested beneficiaries under the Trust. They had no rights to receive anything from the trust and thus had no legal entitlements to enforce or protect. Moreover, it is possible that *none* of the Petitioners will *ever* be vested, because it is possible that none of the Petitioners will out live Mary. In fact, one of the original petitioners in the trial court, Philip Giraldin, died shortly after trial and while the appeal was pending. Had Philip been the only petitioner, his death would have created the anomalous situation of a judgment having been entered in favor of a person who never had a vested interest in the trust and who never had any right to anything.

Furthermore, Article 15.5 of the trust instrument expressly provides that following Bill's death and for so long as Mary is alive, the trustee shall have "no duty to provide any information regarding the trust" to anyone other than Mary.

Thus, the question that the petitioners would have the Court address is not what rights a vested beneficiary may have, but what rights a *contingent* remainderman may have. As the Court of Appeal properly determined and as summarized above, discussed above, the answer to that question is <u>none</u>.

## Review Is Not Necessary to "Protect the Elderly."

As the Court of Appeal points out, the Legislature has enacted an entire statutory scheme to preserve any claims that a deceased settlor/trustor may have had against his or her trustee. A claim for breach of fiduciary duty is a claim that sounds in tort. *Exxess Electronixx v. Heger Realty Corp.* (1998) 64 Cal.App.4th 698, 708 As with other tort claims, assuming the statute of limitations has not run, such claim "survives" the death of the settlor and is vested in, and may be asserted by, his or her personal representative (or if there is no personal representative, then by his or her successor in interest). C.C.P. §§ 377.20 and 377.30 Thus, contrary to Petitioners' argument, an adequate remedy for any breach of trust by the trustee of a revocable trust exists.

Additionally, C.C.P. §§ 377.20 and 377.30 run contrary to the position asserted by Petitioners that merely because they are beneficiaries of the Trust, they necessarily would succeed to any claim Bill may have had. As this Court explained in *Steinhart*, property held in a revocable trust is and remains property of the settlor. A tort committed against the settlor of a trust, whether related to the trust or not, belongs to *the settlor* - because it is the settlor who has been harmed (in the case of a breach of fiduciary duty causing monetary damages, it is the settlor who has lost money, not "the trust"). The tort claim survives the death of the settlor and, pursuant to C.C.P. § 377.30, may be

commenced by the decedent's personal representative, or if there is no personal representative, then by the decedent's "successor in interest." C.C.P. §§ 377.10 and 377.11 define "successor in interest" to be (1) where the decedent died testate, the beneficiary(ies) named in the decedent's will who by terms of the will succeed to such cause of action and (2) where the decedent died intestate, to the decedent's heirs at law under Probate Code §§ 6401 and 6402. In other words, a settlor of trust who dies holding a claim for breach of fiduciary duty against the trustee of his/her revocable trust may direct by will to whom the chose in action passes. Thus, depending upon the precise estate plan of such settlor, the claim against the fiduciary may be devised to one or more specific beneficiaries by will (which could name the settlor's trust as a beneficiary of the will). However, the analysis will always be fact specific and the terms of the settlor's will control the disposition of the chose in action. Merely because a person is a beneficiary of a trust, it does not necessarily follow that the specific trust or any beneficiary of such trust is a successor in interest as defined by the Code of Civil Procedure.

Giving "beneficiaries" of a revocable trust a direct right of action against the trustee is entirely inconsistent with Sections 377.20 and 377.30. There can only be <u>one</u> holder of the settlor's claim - otherwise both the personal representative of the settlor's estate and the trust beneficiaries could sue a trustee in different lawsuits, in different counties, possibly even in different states. Such result is clearly not what the legislature intended.

Petitioners themselves acknowledge that there are several alternative remedies to address a breach of fiduciary duty viz-a-viz the settlor, including an action for statutory elder abuse which may be brought by a number of persons in accordance with Welf. & Inst. C. § 15657.3.<sup>2</sup> Petitioners' comments about the inefficiency of a conservatorship proceeding ring particularly hollow. In point of fact, Petitioners were aware for several years prior to Bill's death that Bill had made a substantial investment in SafeTzone. Yet, none of them asked Bill anything about it or took any steps to ensure that Bill's rights were "protected." Instead, they waited until after Bill died to raise any complaint. (Opinion at page 15, fn 16)

## The Decision Is Not "At Odds" with Nationally Prevailing Trust Law.

Petitioners ask this Court to accept review of this case because, according to Petitioners, the Court of Appeal decision is "at odds" with "nationally prevailing trust law." Specifically, Petitioners argue that the decision is not in accord with the provisions of the Uniform Trust Code, which Petitioners note has been adopted in *twenty three* states. However, as the very authority Petitioners cite for the proposition that "many courts" allow claims similar to those petitioners allege points out, California *has not adopted the Uniform Trust Code* so Petitioners authorities are inapposite. Bogert's Trusts and Trustees, § 964, fn 20.

In point of fact, as discussed above, the California Legislature has enacted specific provisions in the Probate Code and the Code of Civil Procedure addressing the issues of duty and standing. Those provisions cannot

Presumably Petitioners could have, but chose not to, bring a claim for statutory elder abuse in this case. No doubt Petitioners did not bring such a claim out of concern they would run afoul of the "no contest" clause in the trust instrument.

be supplanted by case law that is contrary to the Legislature's directives concerning the rights a beneficiary of revocable trust may have or to whom a chose in action passes.

### Conclusion

For the following reasons, it is respectfully requested that the petition for review be denied.